
UNITED NATIONS

General Assembly
FORTY-FIFTH SESSION

Official Records

SIXTX COMMITTEE
30th meeting

held on
Monday, 5 November 1990

at 3 p.m.
New York

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 30th MEETINQ

Mr. MIKULKA (Czechoslovakia)

CONTENTS

AGENDA ITEM 142: REPORT OF THE INTERNATIONAL LAW COMMISSION ON THE WORK OF ITS
FORTY-SECOND SCZSION  (continued)

t e  raagPaaieilitv1  in-bilitv f o r  in?urj,pus coxuigg,mncea
Brisi&g out of acts -bite8 bv in-w (continue8)

go-56847 3160s (E) / . . .



X/C,6/45/SR.30
English
Page 2

AGENDA ITEM 1428 REPORT OF THE INTERNATIONAL LAW COMMISSION ON THE WORK OF ITS
FORTY-SECOND SESSION (m) (A/45/10)

f s 1-U f o r  iniurious  CO~~~QUB~CQQ  J&U
of acts not aabitsa by international law (Contim)

1, Mr. m (Denmark), &peaking  on behalf of the Nordic countries, said that
the primary norms governing the conduct of States, as well as the tertiary or
procedural rules concerning the settlement of disputes between States, were amply
codified in numerous treaties and other international instruments, so that what
remained to be codified were the second international norms stating the conditions
which had to be fulfilled in order to establish the responsibility of a State in
international relations and the legal consequences which flowed from an established
wrongful act. The difficulty of the undertaking reflected the well-known fact that
to formulate and adopt the primary rules was one thing and to spell out the
responsibility, with all that it entailed, of States violating those primary rules
was quite another. A further d.ifficulty  was the need to avoid re-drafting the
primary rules,

2. The Nordic countries welcomed the fact that the Commission had finally been
able to steer the right course in dealing with the central remaining topic in the
building of an international legal order, and urged the Commission to finalize the
topic before the end of the Decade of International Law. As international
co-operation expanded, many activities on the part of States entailed the need to
determine responsibility in the event of a wrongful act. The Commission itself was
currently dealing with several topics which had a bearing on the concept of State
responsibility - the draft Code of crimes against the peace and security of
mankind, tho international watercourses topic, and liability for injurious
consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international law. An
international convention codifiying the general norms on State responsibility and
its consequences would solve many problems of co-operation among States, In that
connection, he expressed regret that the Commission had often failed to provide a
clearer survey of its work on the topic, especially in years when a report from the
Special Rapporteur had not been forthcoming or had not been considered owing to
lack of time. In line with their wish to see the finalization of the topic well
before the end of Lhe century, the Nordic countries urge3 tho Commission to present
at an early date a brief outline of the results so far achieved together with an
indication of what remained to be done and the time period within which the project
might b8 finished.

3. Turning to the Special Rapporteur’s second report (A/CN.4/425 and Corr.1
(English only) and A1CN.414251Add.l  and Corr.1 (English only)), he said that the
Nordic countries supported, in general terms, the structure adopted for that part
of the project. In particular, it found reasonable the Special Rapporteur’s
approach of including at that stage the element of fault in the evaluation of ths
faults and degrees of reparation due by the offending State. Apart from the fact

/ . . .



A/C.6/45/SR.30
English
Page 3

(Mr.)

that even deliate  might prraent different degrees of gravity, it had to be
remembered that the project also covered crimea  and that the concept of fault was
an indispensable part of the evaluation of any international crime committed by a
State through its aqents or other oompetent authorities. In that line of
reasoning, the Nordic countries also supported the Special Rapporteur’s arguments
in favour of including the element of punitive damages as well as of safeguards of
non-repetition among the aonaequences of an internationally wrongful act.

4. Lastly, the Nordic countries regarded the carefully balanced nature of the
project as a factor which might help in reaching agreement on a basic and
comprehensive text which would cover the topic of general  international law, still
awaiting codification.

5. Frr. PU- (France) , speaking on the topic of State responsibility, said
that international responsibility presupposed an unlawful act attributable to a
State and leading to damage or loss. That was why, unlike article 1 of the draft
adopted by the Commission on first reading in 1973, the articles it was considering
at present, which linked reparation with the concept of injury a8 an essential
pre-condition for international reoponsfbil;Ly,  enjoyed the support of his
delegation.

6. With regard to the nature of the injury giving rice to reparation, his
delegation agreed with the Special Rapporteur and moat memebera of the Commission
(para.  328) in thinking that damage suffered by a State as a result of a wrongful
act could broadly be divided into the two categories of “material” and
“non-mater ial” or “moral”  damage, As regards non-material Uamage, the question of
t h e  a d v i s a b i l i t y  o f  r e f e r r i n g  t o “legal injury” was raised (pare.  399) in
connection with article 10 (footnote 263). While the existence of such a thing as
legal injury could not be denied, the question arose whether,  i f  i t  were
specifically referred to in that context, it should not also logically appear in
articles 7 and 6. In fact,  the reference to “legal” injury was just i f ied only
where violation of the law did not in itself constitute such injuryt  and, moreoverr
the breach had to have entailed damage to a particular State.

7. In paragraph 401 of the report, the Specie1 Rapporteur replied to members of
the Commission who considered that lrrtlcle 8, paragraph 1 did not seem to cover the
position of States not directly or not materially injured by a violation of rules
concerning human rights or the environment by stating that “it was precisely in the
language of paragraph 1 of article 10 that such injured States could find the basis
to claim remedy”. While agreeing with the Special Rapporteur that the applicable
human rights provisions, given the fundamentc 1 importance of the principles
involved and the very special nature of i;he commitments undertaken, had extended
the range of  potentially affected Statrds  and that the question of legal injury had
to be considered very carefully from that viewpoint, he felt that in the case in
point it would be preferable not to use language which, uppropriate  though it might
be in the context of human rights or the environment, would not necessarily be so
in other fields.

/ l . .



A/C,5/45/SR.30
English
P a g e  4

8 . In the opinion of his delegation, international State responsibility was not a
penal  responsibi l i ty. That was the r e a s o n  why it could not approve the
introduction of  the oonaept of international crimes attributable to States in
artiale 19 of P a r t  One of the draft, For the same reason, without casting doubt
upon the faat that satisfaation , or even the obligation to make reparation ivgosed
by international law upon the State roaponsible for the unlawful act, might to some
axtent be in the nature of a punishment of that State, it would prefer paragraph 1
or artiale 10 not to aontain term8 ruggestive of the vocabulary of criminal law,
such as “punitive damages”. It was to be hoped that the Special Rapporteur would
be able to reconaile  the different dootrinal approaches to that subject.

9. His delegation endoreed t h e  basic principle to the effect that the incurring
of internat?Jnai responsibility entailed an obligation to remedy the damage
caused. It also shared the Speaial  Rapporteur’s view that the cessation of aA
international wrongful aat was not, striotly  speaking, a fom of reparation, The
possible modes of reparation were restitution in kind, pecuniary compensation and
satisfaction, the latter two being forms of reparation by equivalent. In that
connection, he welcome!  the Special Rapporteur’s decision to entitle article 8
“Pecuniary aompensation” rather than “Reparation by equivalent”.

10. The Special Rapporteur was entirely right in saying that pecuniary
compensation was the main form of reparation of economically assessable damage,
whether material or moral, while satisfaotion was the appropriato form of
reparation of moral damage which was not economically assessable. The theory
underlying that formulation appeared to correspond to the traditional distinction
drawn between satisfaction, the form of reparation best suited to moral injury
suffered by States , and pecuniary aompensation , which was more suitable to material
or moral damage suffered by the injured State’s nationals.

11, Commenting more specifically on some of the articles considered by the
Commission, he noted with regard to article 8 (footnote 247) that it would not be
possible, and indeed was not desirable, to spell out in too much detail the rules
governing pecuniary compensation. However, the Commission was entrusted with the
progressive development as well as the codification of international law, and there
would therefore be no objection in prinaiple  to its trying to fill any gaps it
might find in studying the subject by proposing solutions acceptable to States.
Whether that could be done in connection with the point under consideration was,
however, doubtful bearing in mind the importance of the facts in each particular
case and the need to leave the necessary latitude to the judge in reaching his
Uecision.

12. While his delegation endorsed the idea underlying both alternative versions of
paragraph 1 o f  article 8, it felt that from a drafting point of  view it might be
useful to specify the ecope of application of the article, which did not become
fully apparent until paragraph 2 (“economically assessable damage”). Al though it
agreed with the Special Rapporteur that the two alternatives were equivalent in
substance (para. 357), it preferred alternative (b)r version (a) had the drawback
OP seeming to say that the object of pecuniary compensation was to re-establish the

/ . . .



A/C.6/45/SR.30
English
Page 5

(Mr.)

situation that would exist if the wrongful act had not been committee?,  whereas in
fact pecuniary oomyensation was resorted to where such re-establishment of the
situation was not possible.

13. With regard to article 8, paragraph 2, his delegation, for reason8 which
included those given in paragraph 365 of the report - in particular the need not to
neglect an element closely connected with the respect for human rights - would,
like the Special Rapporteur, be in favour of retaining the proposed reference.

14, As for paragraph 3, concerning voeaaana, hi8 delegation pointed to the
difficulty in establishing that aspect of damage when an intermediate act, itself
deriving from the initial act, had affected the injured Ytatd. It considered the
rule laid down acceptable -ior& since the necessary causal link with the
wrongful act which gave rise to the damage was evident.

15. With respect specifically to the causal link between the internationally
wrongful act and the damage, the wording of article 8, paragraph 4, might benefit
from being made more precise. Admittedly, the basic intention was to provide a
guideline which could be adapted to each specific case depending on the particular
circumstances, but it would be useful to refleat the idea that, for there to be
compensation, tho causality must be certain and exolusive.

16. Article 9 concerning interest (footnote 262) was too detailed and established
excessively rigid rules where there was no established practiae. If, when they
decided on compensation, international tribunals determined the date and modalities
of payment, they were free to break up the obligation8 by establishing interest
separately or by not doing so. It would therefore be preferable to omit article 9,
even if it meant introducing a general formula covering the matter in article 8.

17. As for article 10 concerning satisfaction (footnote 263), paragraph 1 should
be rewordedi to show that the list of forms of satisfaction it included was not
exhaustive . As for whether guarantees of non-repetition really constituted a form
of satisfaction, his delegation, while noting that it was for the injured State or
the judge who might be assigned to the case to determine, depending on the
circumstances of the case, whether a guarantee of non-repetition consituted
adequate satisfaction, awaited with interest the separate article which the Special
Rapporteur wac considering preparing on that subject (pare. 403).

18. Turning to the question of international liability for injurious consequences
arising out of acts not prohibited by international law, he said that he doubted
whether it was possible, in the current state of international law and given the
variety of situations, to codify the liability of States for lawful acts. Even an
attempt to develop the law would 8eem to be very ambitious. In any case, it was by
no means certain that it could be done SUCCeSSfUlly  until the work on international
liability for wrongful acts had been completed.

19. However , it appeared that the draft articles proposed by the Special
Rapporteur in reality contained two distinct sets of proposals: on the one hand, a



A/C.W45/SR.30
English
Page 6

(Mr.1

kind of code of good conduct for activities that might or did cause transboundary
harm (arts. 6 and 7 and chap, III  of the draft  articles)  and,  on the other, rules
governing liability in the event of harm (art, 9 and chaps. IV and V of the draft
a r t i a l e s ) . It was hard to say whether the former provisions fell strictly within
the scope of the study in guestion,
might have.tranaboundary  effects,

They defined rules governing activities that
but that, in fact, had nothing to do with the

problem of liability envisaged in the draft articles. Those rules would have no
direct  relat ionship with the problem of l iabil i ty  unless  the intention was to
establish that  their  non-ObSetVa~Ce involved the international  l iabil i ty of  the
State of origin. That would then involve liability for wrongful acts. If  the
Commission still wished to continue its consideration of the behavioural
obligations that States must respect in territory in which activities that might
involve traneboundary harm were carried out, p@rhBpS  it should make a clear
distinction between the two parts of the study,

20. As for the Cosunission~e  declared intention to prepare a draft convention in
that field, his delegation felt that that was a risky approach because many States
were not prepared to accept the rules of liability envisaged except for carefully
defined activities or for a specific geographical area, since their obligations
were defined on a case-by-case baSi8 depending on the special problems posed by
those activities or by the physical characteristica of the space in which they were
carried out. The same applied to the rules for prevention and consultation
envisaged by the Commission, which had again gone too far for what was supposed to
be a general text.

21. The Special Rapporteur intended to limit the scope of the draft articles by
clarifying the notion of risk through the preparation, with the help of experts, of
a list of dangerous substances, in other words, substances that created a
significant risk of harm to persons, property or the environment. His delegation
was prepared to endorse that approach because it saw it as a step towards a precise
definition of cases in which liability for risk would be conceivable. The
reference to substances would appear a to allow for greater precision than
the reference to “activit ies”. The question might arise ae to whether the list
envisaged was a genuine response to the problem of determining the scope of the
draf t  ar t i c le s  vmateriae. In any case, that step did not -ior& appear
sufficient to persuade anyone that the text prepared could take the form of a
convention.

22. Firstly, in the preparation of the list, the same difficulties would be
encountered as  in the case of  a  l ist  of activit ies. In addit ion to the diff iculty
posed by the very preparation of the list, it was uncertain that it would be
suf f i c ient . The choice of substances selected could not be made on the basis of
exclusively technical  criteria. States still had to agree on the selection and on
the fact that the problems that those substances might cause should be solved
within the framework of the draft articles and not in another technical context or
in a regional context. Consultation with States would therefore seem to be
indispensable in any case.

/ . . .



A/C. 6/45/8R.  30
English
Page 7

23. Secondly, if it was conceded that an initirl  version could ba prepared, the
list might rapidly become outdated. While an updating  might be thvoretiaally
possible,  it could cause even more practical diffiaulties since the draft would
deal presumably with extremely heterogeneous categories of mbstanaea.  One could
well imagine an endless stream of proposals for amendments.

24. Lastly and most importantly, if the Commission tried to establish specifically
to which activities or substances its draft applied, and if a it planned
to give it the form of a convention, there would be a “shift” in the
subject-matter. The result of following the current orientation would be draft
articles on the prevention of harm deriving from specifically indioated activities
and on the liability resulting therefrom, That would mean a ahCft from a study
parallel to the study on liability for wrongful aats to a text of limited scope
designed to be operational, The question was whether such an orientation would be
precisely in keeping with the current mandate of the Connnisahon  and whether there
was not a risk of duplication with .work done in other bodies. If the Commission
decided to prepare a list of dangero*:s substancea, that list should in any case
have only reference value for the States that wished to preparo a convention on a
specific category of substances included in the list. In short, his delegation’s
view was that the rules which the Commission had undertaken to prepare should apply
only to activities which posed an exceptional risk.

25. With regard to whether and to what extent the draft draft articles should
provide for the liability of the State of origin for transboundary harm oaused by
the activities covered by the subject and carried out under the jurisdiction or
control of that State when such activities were cauduated by individuals, his
delegation took the view that, in accordance with the solution8 adcated  by the
conventions in force in the area of liability, primary liability resided with the
operator. State liability was only subsidiary, as in the case of the convention on
the liability of the operators of nuclear-pcwered ships, when the State failed to
fu l f i l  its superv i sory  ob l iga t ion . There were few cases in which the State could
be held directly l iable. For that same reasonI  his delegation did not consider  it
possible to produce the text of a convention of a general nature that was not
limited to carefully delineated hypotheses of activities representing an
exceptional risk. Furthermore, the exceptions to the principle of the primary
liability of the operator should be envisaged only in well-defined areas where such
a solution appeared acceptable and appropriate on a case-by-case basis.

26. The Special Rapporteur had asked whether he should consider activities
involving risk and activit ies  with harmful  effects  separately.  In the view of his
delegation, the subject should be restricted to activities involving risk, or even
activit ies  involving an exceptional  risk. Moreover, it wondered vhether it was
logical to classify measures that might have to be taken to limit the harm caused
by an activity that had not appeared to be intrinsicall: dangerous as prevention.

27. In conclusion, his delegation reaffirmed that the subject  of liability for
non-wrongful acts could not yet be forced into a rigid framework of unambiguous and
pre-established rules, such as those that might be envisaged with regard to



A/C,6/46/SR.30
Rnqlish
Page 8

(Mr.)

liabil i ty  for wrongful  acts , On the other hand, the Commission would do useful
work by offering States a ohoice from mung various solutions that would enable
them, when neaessary, to deal with a given problem.

28. Kr. HANAFI  (Eqypt) said that in view of the complexity of the question of
State responsibility, it was important to avoid establishing rigid and
unnecessarily detailed rules to be applied mechaniaally, regardless of the
situation. In that aonneation, it wag always necessary to take into account the
aircumstances  of the developing aountrisan whether the effort to codify and develop
the law concerned State responsibility or another aspect of international law.

29. With regard to State responsibility (ahap. V of the report), the Commission’s
task was not merely one of codifiaation. When an examination of the jurisprudencer
customs and established practiae  showed that the ruler in farce in that area
contained laaunae, thm Commission muut work to fill them. The purpose of
reparations was to eliminate all the aonsaquences  arising from tha wrongful act and
to compensate for the loss that had not been made good by restitution in kind.
Thus a link existed between the various modes of reparation.

30. Article 8 (footnote 247) dealt primarily with compensation, and its heeding
should be amended acaordinqly. In paragraph 1, two questions remained to be
settled: when the evaluation of damage would take place and what final deadline
should be set. In that context, his delaqation  agreed with the Special Rapporteur
that the oontents of the paragraph might be considered at the same time aa the
draft articles in Chapter Three. Although the two alternative texL;J of paragraph 1
were somewhat ambiguous, alternative (a) could be retained if it was worded more
clearly and i f  i ts  clauses  were simplif ied.

31. . While not opposed to the use of the expression uneconomically  assessable
damage** in paragraph 2, his delegation considered that it should be made more
explicit and should be given a practical content by introducing general criteria
into the text or at least by stipulating that the damage was economically
assessable according to the principles and rules in force. The concept of “moral
damage” should appear in another part of the draft articles, since i;C did not
relate to economically assessable damage+

32. In article 8, paragraph 3, the reference to profits  lost  was too vague.  It
should be stated that compensation included profits the loss of which could be
accurately assessed, was foreseeable alrd would not have been sustained if the
wrongful act had not been committed. With regard to the uninterrupted causal link
between the wrongful act and the loss, there must be full compensation for 1osJes
where the wrongful act was the immediate and exclusive cause, a8 well as for losses
where the wrongful act was the exclusive cauaeD even if they were not connected
with the said act immediately but through a series of events, each of which was
connected with the other exclusively by 8 causal link.

33. There was a danger that the concept of “causal link” (para. 4) might confer
upon the State an unlimited responsibility, which would run contrary to the
principles laid down by the Special Rapporteur in his report and to the customary

/ . . .



A/C.6/45/88.30
English
Page 9

rules in force and established practice in that area. Hi@ delegatioL therefore
proposed that the norms referred to by the Rapporteur should be included in the
text of paragraph 4. Lastly, his delegation was satisfied with the general
orientation of paragraph 5, but felt it would be preferable to makfl it the subject
of a separate article so as to make it a general rule that applied to all other
forms of reparation.

34. With regard to article 9 (footnote 262), he pointed out that in jUriSprUdence
and established practice interest was considered to be part of reparation. It was
therefore important to provide expressly for the obligation to pay interest in
order to ensure full reparation for the damage arising from the wrongful act.
Therm were, however, differences of opinion regarding the dates from which and
until whjch interest should runr and the rate of such interent, Loqioally,
interest ran from the date of the decision until the payment of the reparation.
The rate should be set flccordinq  to each situation, taking into nacount  the level
of economic development of the country concerned. Those questions were generally
left to the judgemeat of the judicial courts or arbitral tribunals, The Commission
should study the question further before taking a definitive deaisiont it aould
also decide to delete paragraph 2, as the majority of the Commission’s members had
suggested.

35. On the whole, article 10 on satisfaction and guarantees of non-repetition
(footnote 263) raised no difficulties, but his delegation had doubts about the
usefulness of the concept of “legal injury” in paragraph 1. A8 the Special
Rapporteur had point out, that concept applied whenever there was a wrongful act,
and for that reason0  his delegation mUgpOrted  the proposal that it should be
deleted.

36. The question of the impact of fault on tha forms and degrees of reparation
raised difficult questions to which the Commission should devote an in-depth study
in the mar future.

37. Mr. VI0 QRQm (Chile), referring to chapter III of the Comission~s  report
(A/45/10) on @@Jurisdictional immunities of States and their property”, suggested
that it should be entitled “Restrictions on the immunity of Staten*@, but maid he
was open to other proposals. With regard to article 12 (footnote 79), he agreed
with other delegations that the phrase “and is  covl)red  by the social  security
provisions which may be in force in that other State”, at the end of paragraph 1
should be deleted. Subparagraph (a) of paragraph I should also be deletedt as to
subparagraph (b), his delegation supported the solution suggested in paragraph 182
of the report.

38. The restriction of the jurisdictional immunity of the State set forth in
article 13 (footnote 65) was particularly important for Chile, which had not
forgotten the assassination of the former Minister, Orlando Letellier, in
Washington in 1976. It was therefore essential to avoid anything that might lend
itself  to controversyt that  could not  be said for the phrase “... i f  the act  or
omission which is alleged to be attributable to the State”, which did not make
clear the need for a link between the person responsible for the act or omission
and the defending State,

/ . . .



t A/C.6/45/88.30
6nglish
Page 10

39. 221s delegation agreed with the Special Rapporteur and with the majority of
members of the Conaission in favourinq the deletion of article 20 (footnote 96), as
measures of nationalioation  were sovereign a&s. It was also in favour of merging
articles 21 and 22 (footnote 97) and retaining, in paragraph 1 (c) of the new
artiale 21, the phrase “[and has a aonneotion with the objeot of the claim, or with
the agenay or instrumentality against which the proceeding was directed]” and, in
paragraph 2, the idea that the property covered by paragraph 1 could not be
subjected to any measures of aonstraint. It supported the deletion of article 23
(ibip.),  but the Commission should await the final results of its work concerning
the definition ot “State” in artiole 2 and the ultimate fate of article 11 u.

40. As aertain members of the Commission had proposed, article 24, paragraph 3,
should be replaaed by the following text: “The document shou?q be made available
in a language acceptable to the State concerned”, and the new version of
subparagraphs (a) and (b) of paragraph 1 proposed by the Special Rapporteur
(para. 229) should be aacepted.

41. Moving on to ahapter IV, “The law of the non-navigational uses of
international watercourses’@, he said that  article 24 (footnote 1201, which,  l ike
article 25, had as its underlying principle the idea of optimum utilisation, seemed
well balanced. Account should be taken, however, of the obligation not to cause
appreaiable harm set forth in article 8. In article 24, paragraph 2, the notion of
conflict should be replaced by that of the incompatibility of several uses.

42. With regard to paragraph 1 of article 25 (footnote 1221, it should be assumed
that wateroourse States were obliged to co-operate in the regulation of
wateraourses, and not only to co-operate *‘in identifying needs and opportunities
for regulation”. In paragraph 2, it should be specified that watercourse States
were obliged to participate not only in the construction and maintenance of
regulation works, but also in their improvement or modernisation.

43. With regard to article [26] (footnote 1231, his delegation also believed in
the need for the rational management and optimal utilisation of international
watercourses. For that reawn, improvement should be made to the substance and
form of that article. In Chile’s view, the important point was not to create a
j o i n t  organiaation, but to provide for joint management, which could take on
different forms and involve companies or enterprises of private law.

44. Article [27] (footnote 124) should stipulate the obligation of each State to
ensure the protection of water resources  and related installations, facilities and
other works, in accordance with the principle of territorial integrity and that of
sovereignty.

45. Article [28] (i$ls.) should comprise two paragraphs, one relating to peaceful
uses and the other to uses in time of armed conflict. It  was essential  to revise
its text, however, lest, in some unforeseen way, the existing rules of
international law governing that field were affected.

/ . . .



A/C.6/45/88.30
English
Page 11

(Mr.)

46. In annex I “Implementation of the draft artialea’O, artiales 6, 7 and 8 should
be deleted. The annex should in general be revised, beaause  the  aivil l i a b i l i t y
riqime whioh it stipulated for the compensation of individuals went beyond the
limits of a framework agreement in so far as it could require changes in national
loq i s la t ion ,

47. Chapter VII of the report dealt with International liability  for injurious
consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international law, a prinaiple
which had not been accepted without opposition, rinse it ran aounter to the idea
that States had only to account to themselves for their aations, and aimed at
preventing certain acts involving special risks and, whero those aats aould not be
prevented, at organiainq reparation for the damage which they had aaused. That
approach was broadly reflected in the Declaration of the United Nations Conferenae
on the Human Environment (Stockholm, 1972), and specifically in its principles 21,
22 and 26.

48. Chile fully agreed with the general prinoiples  set forth in the draft
articles, but was still conaerned about the liability incurred by States for harm
arisinf;l out of acts not prohibited by international law, and in partiaular nualear
a c t i v i t i e s . With regard to the transboundary harm which could be aaused by the
dumping of nuclear waste, it was necessary to ascertain whether that harm could
still be felt after a long period of time. It was also neaessary to st ipulate,  as
in article 1, not only the harm caused by certain activities but also the risk
which they created of causing such harm, thereby facilitating the taking of
preventive measures. In article 2 (a), mention should be made of the use of
elements of nature and of the environment where that use could cause transboundary
harm, such as the use of geological faults aa a dumping space for nuolear  Waste*

49. With regard to article 11, his delegation believed that the notification
should be addressed simultaneously to all the 8.:ates parties to the Convention and
that their co-operation was essential. Article 16 was aonaerned  with a partiaular
application of the general duty of care and of the provision8 of article 8. The
unilateral preventive measures which the State of origin was required to take under
article 1 were insufficiently rigorous and that provision should therefore be
studied in more depth.

50. In response to SUbparagrSph  (b) of paragraph 521, his  delegation believed that
the concept of international liability for injurious consequenaes  arising out of
acts not prohibited by international law had replaced the juridical criterion of
subjective fault by that of objective fault. In the event of harm, therefore, the
State under whose jurisdiction or control the activity causing the harm had been
carried out must report that harm, without affecting the question of culpability.
The State was reSpOnSiblEi  for taking the necessary safety measures to prevent the
possible harm entailed by certain activities. That responsibility was the
wro oup of a State’s sovereignty. When those activities were carried out by
individuals, the liability of the State was incurred if it had not taken the
necessary measures to prevent the occurrence of trsnsboundary harm or if it had not
exercised suff icient control  over those activit ies. The issue was ona of great
importance and the frequency of transboundary harm was evidence of a “gap” in
international  law.

/ . . .



A’C.6/4S/SR.30
English
Page 12

51. Mr. &I.&D Jm (China) said that the issue of  the l iabil i ty  of States was
extremely aompler  and the first part of his statement would be devoted to it.
Paragraph 336 of the report under consideration had stated that the Special
Rapporteur had approached remedies primarily from the point of view of injuries to
ali8as in cases of torts and, in paragraph 330, that the report of the Special
Rapporteur had covered too many old cases, particularly of arbitral awards made in
the late nineteenth or early twentieth century, during the colonial era* China
believed that one of the great successes of the International Law Commission had
been its ability, year after year, to transcend the limitations of traditional
international law, which restricted the liability of States to attempts on the life
snb the property of aliens, and to include under that heading all internationally
i l l i c i t  a c t s . The Special Rapporteur had deviated from the concept of the
liability of States adopted by the Commission. Paragraph 338 had also stated that
certain members had mentioned the Borer revolt as a case which should not be
invoked as precedent illustrating the juridical consequences of the liability of
States. The Chinese people regarded the Borer as an instance of aggression
against China and of  armed imperialist intervention. His delegation therefore
believed that the Connnission should not base its work exclusively on the liability
of Statea with regard to the protection of aliens, and still less on cases of
diplomatic protection of the imperialist type such as was accorded to aliens in the
late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.

52. With regard to article 8 (footnote 247), he shared the view of certain members
that its title should be **pecuniary compensation”, since the title “reparation by
equivalence” could be taken to mean that such reparation was equivalent to
pecuniary compensation, something that had still to be established. The article
was hardly acceptable, since it formulated abstract rules based on the assumption
of the equality of States, while the relations between States were fundamentally
unequal. The pecuniary compensation provided for in the article reflected the
point of view of the developed countries When applied ta claims for reparation
made by the developing countries, it would have unfair consequences for those
countries by depriving them of their right to development and thereby causing
instabil i ty  in international  relat ions.  As formulated,  art icle 8 .tas an
anachronism and noi conducive to the progress of international law, Article 9
(footnote 262) should be deleted, because it covered matters that should be covered
by art icle 6.

53. Concerning article 10 (footnote 263), his delegation saw in “satisfaction” a
way of compensation and in “guarantees of non-repetition*’ a form of
@Tsatisfactionc*. It was a special form of compensation for moral injury done to a
State, including damage to its dignity, honour or prestige. Concerning “legal
injury” his delegation agreed with the opinion of certain members of the
International Law Connnission (pare. 399) that the concept should be limited)
otherwise the approach adopted would be unreasonable. Furthermore, the word
“punitive” in paragraph 1 should be deleted, because giving a punitive character to
**satisfactlrnB*  ran counter to the principle of sovereign equality among States.
Moreover, the effect of fault on the means and degrees of compensation was a
complex question which required further study. The Special Rapporteur had
acknowledged that fault had not played an important role in that point of l*iew.

/ . . .



A/C.6/45/88.30
Rnglish
Page 13

54. Turning next to “international  l iabil i ty  for injurious consequenc8s aris ing
out of acts not prohibited by international law”, h8 wondered first shout the scope
of the subject. In his opinion, the draft articles should apply not only to
activities involving risk of causing transboundary harm, but also to activities
aatually causing such hark!,. The Gipscial RappOrtOUr  prc2erred  to treat those two
items together, but that type of presentation must not give th8 impression that it
narrowed the scope of the subject. Doubts over the combined approach raised by
some member8 of the International Law Commission muSt be taken seriously. Indeed,
in accordance with the Special Rapporteur’s  definition in draft article 2,
paragraph 2 (f), (footnote 305) of  *Vactivities with harmful effects”, activities
causing harm were those in which harm was seen from th8 beginning as an inevitable
consequence and which could be undertaken on the basis of the adoption of measures
to rOdUC8  harm and compensate for harm that had already occurred. That definition
excluded from the topic activities which caused harm although they appeared not to
present a risk. That ran counter to the previous position of the Commisdon and to
the majority opinion of Sixth Committee members.

55. With respect to the advisability of drawing up a list of activities, the
Special Rapportour found that solution inappropriate for a global convention and
would prefer a list of dangerous substanc8s  which would be more flOxibl8 and would
have th8 advantage of more clearly defining the field of application for the
ar t ic le s . His delegation favoured  the 88cond solution, on the condition that the
list of substances was indicative rather than exhaustive. Otherwise, the draft
would take the form of a specific convention on specific activities and would be
overtly restrictive.

56. The Special Rapporteur had proposed some revisions in draft articles 1 to 10.
Article 2, concerning definitions , was quite different from the previous text.
With its 14 definitions, it seemed somewhat lengthy, and some members believed that
definitions should be made on a temporary basis because the topic related to a new
area where many terms still awaited definition. His d818gatiOn  believed that the
definitions should be retained pending further study. Article 10 had also
undergone a major change and had become a provision on “non-discrimination”,  which
his delegation approved. It was important from the point of view of the right of
the victim of transboundary harm to institute civil liability proceedings in the
State of origin. Since national legislation varied greatly, and the State of
origin was the first to be affected by the accident, that  provision specif ied that
the applicable law should be that of the State of  origin. Consequently, draft
article 30, on ‘*application of municipal law” (footnote 321) should be reconsidered.

57. In reading chapter III of the draft on prevention - draft articles 11 through
20 - he was pleased that the rules of procedure proposed were simpler and more
f lsXibl8. The obligation of prevention should be based on the obligation of
co-operation. As long as no transboundary harm had occurred, noncompliance with
the obligation of prevention should not give another: potentially affected State the
right to begin action. That concept had been explicitly incorporated by the
Special Rapporteur in the text of article 18 (footnote 314),  which StipUlatOd  that
the State of origin could not invoke article 23 on ‘*reduction of compensation
payable by the State of origin” in the case of harm resulting from a violation of

/ . . .



A/C.6/4WSR.30
Esglish
Page 14

(Mr.)

the obligation of prevention. It was a reasonable provision which could induce the
State of origin to take seriously the obligation of prevention.

58. Like many members of the Commission, he also felt that participation by
isternational  organisations would be positive and useful. The review of potential
trsnsboundary harm sometimes required highly advanced technology and equipment,
which some aountries might lack, International organisations should also play a
pOSitiV8  role in promoting co-operation among States. The drafts of srticles 11
and 12 (footnote 300) were thua acceptable on th8 whole, though not ad8qUate.
Finally, the prinaiple of “balance of interests~* embodied in article 17
(footnote 312) was of aruaial  importance both from th8 point of view of pr8VeUtiOU
and o f  liability.

SO, Chapter IV of the draft, concerning liability (paras, 508 and following), was
t r u l y  th8 oore 0,” the topio and called for some comment. F ir s t ,  ar t i c le  21
propos8d by the Special Rapportour (footnote 315) imposed the obligation to
negotiate compensation in case of harm, an approach that would be more easily
aacrpt8d by th8 international community. It was questionable whether existing
international law provided for the obligation for reparation in the absence of a
violation of int8rnational  law. The second comment concerned the determination of
l i a b i l i t y . To say that the operator should bear primary responsibility would be in
agreement with current State practice. As pointed out in paragraph 509 of the
report, only the Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space
Objects  attributed l iabil i ty to th8 State, and that Convention was of a specitl
nature which could not be generalis8d. The Special Rapporteur also said that a
State should be held l.Lable only to the extent that it had not adopted proper
domestic legislat ion. States could also bear a residual liability. That approaah
would aocommodate situations where required reparation exceeded compensation to be
paid by the operator, and as well as the principle that innocent victims should not
su f fer  lo s s ,

60. Xi8 delegation SUppOrtOd  in principle the art icles  deal ing with civi l
liability, in chapter V of the draft (paras. 520 R& seq.). Article 31
(footnote 321) should be reconsidered with regard to the question of jurisdictional
immunities of States and their property. His dslegation  would await the rosults of
further deliberations on that Chapter  at the next session df the International Law
Conunission  before making further comments.

61. His delegation had already commented on the concept of “global commons’~  and on
the desirability of extending the topic to include it. The Commission should not
ignore the problem of the human environment, nor the new concept of “global
commons I*, which coversJ quite different problems from those in the draft articles,
firstly, because of the uncertainty of its definition and leg&l consequenceb,  and,
secondly, because of problems in identifying countries affected by activities
considering th8 mult ipl icity of  States of  origin, and th8 d8tMninatiOn  of rights
and obligation of States of origin and other States. The qusstioa  should,
therefore, be studied in more detail and approached with caution. So much remained
to b8 done by the International Law Commission that there was no foreseeing when it

/ I..



A/C,6/46/88.30
English
Page 15

(Mr.)

would complete the first reading, and it would be inappropriate to complicate the
subjeat further. Perhaps ‘“global  commons** could be made a Separate topic in a
future programme of work.

62. &i&D (United Kingdom) addressed, f i r s t ly ,  the  ques t ion  o f  &ate
responsibility (chap. V of the report). It was an important subject, and the
Commission must be encouraged to advance its work, since it had begun its study of
the topic 35 years earlier, and it had been 15 years since it had adopted the
general plan.

63, The Special Rapporteur had proposed tht88 new draft articles, which had been
referred to the Drafting Committee. Regarding the first, article 8, concerning
**Reparation by equivalea~” (footnote 247), th8 Special Rapporteur had indicated
appropriately that restitution in kind was the primary mode of reparation und that
it should b8 applied Whenever  pOSSibl8,  while also r8cognising a need for
reparation by pecuniary compensation WhOr8 reparation in kind could not easure
complete reparation. In general, article 8 was welcome.

64, With regard to draft article 9 proposed by the Special Rapportour, concerning
interest (footnote 262), his delegation thought that interest should be paid only
in oases involving loss of property. That view was supported by the awards of
international claims commissions. Secondly, it SUppOrtOd  the general agreement in
the Commission that paragraph 2 of that article, relating to compound interest,
should be deleted, since such interest had b88n awarded only in the rarest of
cases.

65. Draft article 10, entitled ~“Satisfaction  and guarantees of non-repetition’o
(footnote 263),  was important both in principle and in practice, as recent cc~ses
had shown. But, as the Special Rapportour had himself  said in paragraph  401, the
question of “moral and legal injury" should be considered with great care,

66. His del8gatiOn sincerely hoped for real and rapid progress in that import8nt
area o f  the Conunission’s  work. It had noted with interest the Commission’s debate
concerning the material cited by the Special Rapporteur. It agreed with those who
had said that it was important to exsmine rigorously past State and judicial or
arbitral practice, of which there was plenty. When the Commission was engaged in
codification, such examination was essentials  when there were elements representing
progressive development of the law, analysis  o f  States’  past  behaviour and i ts
consequences was essential to formulating rules for the future.*

67, In the related area of international liability for injurious coneequeaces
arising out of acts not prohibited by international law, he noted that the
Commission did not have many examples of State practice or sf judicial and arbitral

* The United Kingdom delegation distributed a document at the meeting
containing its detailed comments on draft article 8.

/ . . .



A/C.6/46/88.30
English
Page 16

award8 on which to base ita w o r k . It was therefore engaged to a much greater
extent in proqresaive development of the law than in aodifioation. For that
reasonI  he wished to reaall two general aomments whiah hie delegation had made at
the previous session. Firstly,  the articles  should foaue on t h e  practical  problems
which  caused the  moat di f f i cu l ty , r a t h e r  than seeking to deal aomprnheneively with
all aspeate of the oubjeat. The proposal  for an annex provided a welcome
opportunity to ensure with some degree of oertainty  that the articles related to
those aativitiee identified aa aausing the moat problems. Seaondly, aautfon must
be exercised before attributing far-reaching consequenses  to lawful acte, since the
articles dealt with acts not prohibited by international law. The n e w  article 17
(footnote 312) recognised  that the duty to oomgenaate and to negotiate reparation
should be tempered by practical considerations. That new provision was most
welcome.

68. Article 17 wae important f o r  other reasons  aa well .  As a matter of aubatanae,
it rret forth faotore  whiah could be taken into acaount  during negotiations in order
to achieve an equitable balance of interestsJ  in other words, it indiaatod  the
practical matters which the States concerned were to take into account when
negotiating reparation for transboundary harm, It  also i l lustrated an interest ing
proaedural point. At the previour aeeuion, delegations had commented on draft
article 9 without the benefit of the text that now appeared in article 17. With
the new provirion , a r t i c l e  9  appeared  i n  a  aomgle te ly  d i f ferent  l ight . It a l s o
seemed more aacepcable  beaause its significance was clearer. That showed that
examining artiolea piecemeal was not the moat useful way of proceeding, since any
one article might be significantly affeoted by articles that appeared
subsequently.

69. On the subject of the Committee’8 working methods, he commended the
considerable effort8 which the Commieaion  and Ate successive Special Rapporteure
had devoted s ince  1976 to developing a schematic  outline and producing draft
art icles  on the topic. That praise wae all the more deserved because the topic
largely involved progressive development of the law and there was no established
and extensive body of State practice and case-law on which to build. The
Commission had therefore developed the topic in directions which had been scarcely
imaginable in 1978, increasing its scope 80 much that completion of work on the
topic seemed a distant prospect. The Sixth Committee should take a fresh look at
the topic, not article by article but in broad terms, to see whether it agreed with
the  d i rec t ion  the  C o m m i s s i o n ’ s  work  was  tak ing . The Committee might aleo consider
assigning priorit-l ’ to some aspects of the topic, bearing in mind the current needs
of the international community, To that end, the Commission should present the
Sixth Committee with an overall review of the statue of its work on the topic and
an indication of the direction it intended to take in the future. There was no
need to wait to implement that propoeal until the Commission reached CL natural
break in ita work on the topic, which might not be for several years. A report
presented aa soon as poselble would allow the Sixth Committee to take a dudsion,
perhaps aa early ae the next session of the General Assembly, on the future
direction of work on international liability for injuricus consequences rtzising out
of acts not prohibited by international law.

/ * . .



A/C.6/4S/SR.30
Enqlieh
Poqe 17.

70. Mr. (Romania) presented his aomments on the report of the International
Law Commission ohapter  by ahapter and specified that they were of a preliminary
nature, ainoe the proposed draft articles required more extensive reflection and
analysis . With regard to the flrrt two chapters, he noted that the Commirsion had
devoted the greatest number of meetings (16) to the topio "Draft Code of Crimes
against the Peace and Seaurity of Mankind”. Since that topio was dealt with under
a separate item on the Qeneral  Assembly’s agenda, his delegation would discuss it
when that agenda item was aonsidered.

71. At the previous sessionr his delegation had made a number of observations on
the draft  art icles  relat ing to jurisdict ional  immunities  of States and their
property (ohap. 111)~ it was Qlessed to note that the Commission had taken those
observations into account. In accordance with Romania’s proposal, the Commission
had deaided to replace the expression “limitations on” or “exception8 to" vith a
more neutral formulation: “Activities of States in reepeat of which States agree
not to invoke immunity@*.

72. Chapter IV on the law of the non-navigational uses of international
watercourses illustrated the usefulness of the Special Rapporteur’s  analyses. He
noted that there was no definition of the term ‘*regulation” in article 25, The
definition adopted by the International Law Association in 1980 seemed satisfactory
and should be taken into consideration. With regard to article 26 on joint
institutional management (para. 2751, the best approach would be to draft
recommendations on which State8  aould  base their own definitions of the
responsibilities and powers  of the organ they decided to establish. From that
standpoint, he questioned the appropriateness of dealing with problema  related to
armed confliats  by means 6f a framework agreement. Such an approach oould impinge
on the law relating to armed aonfliats or on other studies being conduated  by the
Commission itself, such as that on orimes against the peaae sad security of
mankind. Lastly, annex I on the implementation of the draft articles could be the
starting point for an optional protocol.

73. Chapter V of the report showed that the Special Rapporteur on the question of
State responsibility had successfully dealt with the main aspeots of his subject:
the rubstsntive consequences arising from an internationally wrongful act other
than cessation and mrsstFtutio,  and reparation by equivalent, eatisfaction
and guarantees of non-repetition. He had also dealt with the question of the
impact of fault, in a broad sense, on the forma and degrees of reparation. That
was a very complex issue, and the Special Rapporteur had had to cite a large number
of old arbitral awards rather than relying on more recent data, However, he had
established a certain balance in his research by recoqnisinq the importance of
diplomatic practice, It was through such practice, in fact, that general
international law was developed. Analyvie  of it was therofore relevant, especially
in view of the scarcity of international case-law on the subject.

74. With regard to draft article 8 proposed by the Special Rapporteur
(footnote 247),  on “Reparation by equivalent”, further consideration should be
given to the title in order to avoid any ambiguity. The concept of reparation by
equivalent was founded on a well-known and relatively clear principle. Moreover,
the Permanent Court of International Justice had provided an excellent point of

/ . . .



A/C.6/4S/SR.30
Rnqlirh
Pago 18

(Mr.1

departurr . The terminology used in paragraph 2 of the artiole should be refinedJ
for l xamplo, thr exprerrion *~eoonomically assessable daxaqe*’ was a self-evident
deeoription, for it meant that in order to be oompensated,  damage had to be
aesossable in economic terma. In the same paragraph, it would be preferable to
retain tho l xpresaion *@moral dsmaqe” beoause the proposed alternative expression,
“immaterial damage”, oould give rise to interpretations that diverged widely from
the meaning normally attributed to that expression.

75. Article 9 on “Interest@@  (footnote 262) had a teahniaal aspaot but benefited
from a flexible formulation, as could be seen from the second paragraph proposed in
the mport. It rreemed loqioal and normal that compound interest should be awarded
whenever  neaesrary in order to ensure full compensation, and that the interest rate
should be the moot suitable to aohieve  that result. However, se members of the
Connnisrion had said, it was preferable not to go into detail. Lastly, the deoision
on the placement  of the article should be taken when the entire set of draft
artioles was complete.

76. Article 10 on O%atisfaction  and guarantees of non-repetitionO@ (footnote 263)
dealt with a very delicate issue. In practice, the injured State often had
diff iculty in obtaining ful l  and complete sat isfaction.  The dist inction between
moral injury and legal injury must be examined  with the utmost care because its
importance was practioal as well as theoretical, particularly in cases involving
rules of international law on the protection of human rights and of the
environment. The language of paragraph 4 of the arl;icle should be refined, but
should oontinue  to express the idea that the forma of satinfaction should not be
humiliating to States or inconsistent with their sovereign equality.

77. The impact of fault on the forme and degrees of reparation (paras. 408-412)
was a question which deserved more extensive discussion. The attribution of fault
to a State was highly complex, and practice varied considerably. According to some
members of the Conunission,  fault by State agents should not be imputed
indisoriminately  to the State. That idea, which was mentioned in paragraph 412,
should be analysed with aara.

76. Chapter VII of the report , on international  l iabi l i ty  for injurious
conaequenoes arising out of acts not prohibited by international law, set out the
schematic outline proposed by the Special Rapporteur, which his delegation found
entirely aaoeptable. Mention should be made of the timeliness of, inter,
artiale 8 on Prevention (footnote 307), under which States of origin must take
appropriate measures to prevent or minimise  the risk of transboundary harm.
Consultations  had an important role to play in that connection and the States
concerned were called upon to consult in good faith and in a spirit of co-operation.

79. Consultations did not, however, preclude unilateral preventive measures.
Draft article 16 entitled “Unilateral preventive measurea”,  proposed by the Special
Rapporteur (footnote 310), was thus wholly relevant. Mention should be made of the
practical value of a proposal which required the State of origin to counteract the
effecta of an incident that had already occurred and that prenented an imminent and
grave risk of causing transboundary harm.

/ . . .



A/C.6/45/88.30
Rnqlish
Page 19

80. The question of determining whether the future oonvention would apply to harm
aaused in the territory of a single State or in the territory of several States was
not of  the easeme* If suoh harm affeated  several States, there must obviously be
rules whioh would apply to that m situat ion , However, if the aotivity of a
State caused harm to the “global commons@@, the situation went beyond the eaogs of
the draft in preparation. There were other aspeote of those “global  commons**  whiah
would have to be regulated in a different way from tsrritorius which fell within
the sovereignty of a State. Lastly, the future convention would have to
incorporate the direot liability of transnational  corporations which operated in
the territory of other ltates and whose activities caused transboundary harm.

81, Mt._LOUtICHKf (Morocco) said that, in considering the draft artioles on
international liability  for injurious consequences arising out of aats not
prohibited by international law as a whole, one oould not fail to note the great
flexibility, and sometimes unaertainty, whioh was a feature of rome of the draft
articles and which derived either from a perceived diverqenae  in State practice or
from the absence of a etable practice reflecting a customary nofm, Ris delegation
therefore fully understood the oaution with which the Speoial Rapporteur was
approaahinq a topic that primarily involved the progressive development of
international law and related to situations eaoh of whiah had it8 own speoific
features.

82. Respondinq  to the questions raised by the Commission in paragraph 531 of the
report, his delegation aaid that it agreed with the Speoial Rapportour that there
oould be no major differenoe, from the standpoint of the legal rdqime, between
activities involving risk and activities with harmful effects. At the ssme time,
it could not agree with the view that the scope of the articles should be specified
in the form of a list of harmful activities or substanoes. A general definition
would seem more in line with the Commission’s aim of arriving at a framework
convention with universal scope.

83. With regard to draft article 10 (footnote 308),  which dealt with
non-disorimination  between the effects of activities that arose in the territory of
one State and those arising in the State of origin, the provision, which would
guarantee domestic remedies to foreigners on the same footing as to nationals,
would be applicable in the case of similar or comparable legal systemlr  but could
not be imposed in the form of a convention on States parties with differing legal
sya terns. On the other hand, such States could include a provision to that effect
in bilateral agreements.

84. Article 17 (footnote 312) should be brought into line with article 9
(footnote 307) t the latter art icle established the principle that  reparation
should seek to restore the balance of interests affected by the harm, while the
former listed the factors to be taken into account in achieving a balance of
interests. His delegation agreed with the Special Rapporteur’e  comment in
paragraph 500 that the factors l isted in art icle 17 “were not  truly legal  norm8  and
hence they might be inappropriate for inclusion in these draft articles”. It  did,
however, recoqniae that the reference to a balance of interests was relevant in the

/ . . .



A/C.6/45/88.30
Rnqlish
Page 20

(Mr.1

oontext of ohapter III of the draft artloles, which dealt with the obligation of
prevention and its consequences, In that regard, draft article 20 (footnote 314)
provided for the prohibition of an activity if transboundary harm could not be
avoided or could not be adequately compensated.

85. In view of the importanoe  of prevention in the draft artiolee, the Commission
should elimiaate from the wording of the obligations arising under chapter III
terms which would weaken its scope, euzh as “in at- to es tab l i sh  a  r8qime”
( a r t .  14), @I- the adoption of compulsory insurance” (art. 16) or “shoul8
withhold authoriaation”  (art. 17). In his delegation’s opinion, failure by a State
to comply with its obligations should also have more deterrent consequences than
the mere prohibition of an injurious activity.

06. Chapter IV of the draft articles concerned compensation for harm and the
liability attributable to the state of origin or the operator. In that respect,
draft article 21 (footnote 315) established the obligation of the State of origin
to negotiate with the State affected by an injurious tranaboundary aativity
“bearing in mind that the harm must, in prinaiple,  be fully oompensated”. His
delegation would prefer the article to establish, in an opening paragraph, the
principle of aompensation  and to indicate, in a second paragraph, the circumstances
which would justify limited reparation. With regard to the ohoiae of the party to
be held liable for tbe transboundary harm, if the Commission decided to retain the
lisbility of the operator, it would have to establish a link between the operator
and the State of origin and stipulate a residual lisbility on the part of the
latter, the main aim being to ensure the best possible reparation for the harm.
The Speaial  Rapporteur had proposed two alternatives for draft article 25
(footnote 316) ooncerninq cases in which there was a plurality of States of
origin. The necond alternative, which envisaged a shared liability between the
States of origin in proportion to the harm which each one of them had caused, was
more realistlo and seemed to have a better chance of acceptance by States parties.
The Special Rapporteur had therefore been right to recommend its retention.

87. Draft article 24 provided for the submission, through the diplomatic channel,
of claims for reparation. Such a procedure relied on the prior exhaustion of
domestic remedies, a condition which the Commission should take into account in the
draft as a whole.

88. Finally, his delegation doubted the usefulness of draft articles 26 and 29,
but thought it appropriate to include in the draft some general considerations
regarding the legal regime applicable to areas beyond national jurisdiction of
States (pars.  526).  It  hoped that, at its next session, the Commission would
direct its endeavours towards firmly establishing the main concepts on which that
aspect of liability should be based.

83. ma. s (Nigeria)  said that  draft  art icles  8 (Reparation by
equivalent), 9 (Interest) and 10 (Satisfaction and guarantees of non-repetition),
as proposed by the Special Rapporteur on State responsibility, were of particular
interest to her delegation.

/ .*.



A/C.6/45/6R.30
English
Page 21

90. With regard to draft article 8 (footnote 247),  her delegation agreed that the
dictum of the Permanent Court of International Justice in the b FaQtQEY  easer
namelyI that reparation was to wipe out all the legal and material consequences of
the wrongful act, should serve ae the starting point for formulating the provisions
on reparation by equivalent. It was only logical that monetary or pecuniary
compensatory measurea  should be adopted in the application of that dictum both to
injured nationala  and States.

91. Her delegation hoped that further etudiee on paragraph 2 of that draft article
would clarify the criterion of “economically aseeesable  damage” and would avoid
controversial  interpretations. It also believed that the economic assessability of
damage should be baaed an the degree of damage rather on the financial statue of
the offending State. It agreed with the general principle in paragraph 3, provided
that the loss of profits was real and could be amesaed. Dastly, the uninterrupted
causal link mentioned in paragraph 4 remained an important and valid criterion,
although it might lead to unlimited liability for a State.

92, Draft article 9 (footnote 262) posed a problem for her delegation. While
noting the reasona adduced by some member8  of the Commission for its total
deletion,  her delegation felt  that  i t  woe st i l l  necessary to provide for  interest
to be paid on the amount awarded as principal, as that might prompt the State which
had committed an internationally wrongful act to accelerate payment of the
principal .

93. On draft article 10 (footnote 263), entitled “Satisfaction and guarantees of
non-repetition*‘, her delegation agreed with the Special Rapporteur that
sat isfaction was characterised by its  retributive or punit ive nature (para.  390).
However, it wae not a punitive mesaurea The reference to “moral or legal injury”
needed clarification, since the dignity, honour and prestige of the State were part
of its sovereign rights.

94. Turning to chapter VII of the report, on international  l iabi l i ty  for injurious
coneequencee arising out of acts not prohibited by international law, she welcomed
with satisfaction the provisions of chapter III of the draft, on prevention, which

- cal led for assistance by international  organisations  to developing countries.  It
was also important to etreus  that the welfare of other sovereign Itates should be a
legitimate concern of all States. Therefore, in a situation where the asuessment
of a proposed activity showed that transboundary harm could not be avoided or could
not be adequately compensated, authoriaation for such dangerous activity should be
refused. The activity should even be banned unless the necessary preventive
measures were taken. If traneboundary harm still occurred, the State of origin
should be held liable and should be required to indemnify the injured State. I t
was the responsibility of States to ensure, through the mechanisms at their
disposal, that the activities conducted in their territory did not cause harm to
other States. Compensation and reparation should always be commensurate with the
harm caused. However, the fact that injuries often tonk a long time to manifest
themselves underscored the need for the criterion of a causal link between the
wrongful act and the injury.

/ . . .



AIC.61451SR.30
English
Page 22

95. Although the idea of a list of dangerous substances had its merits, such a
list could never be exhaustive and therefore would create loopholes for bad and
harmful conduct.

95. Lastly, her delegation looked forward to the outcome of future work on harm to
areas beyond national jurisdiction (para. 526). which were particularly important
with respect to the environment, and believed that the Commission should place more
emphasis on that aspect at its next session.

97. l&, WKAS (Yugoslavia) said that although the three new draft articles
prepared by the Special Bapporteur  on State responsibility stated the general
principles of applicable law on the subject, a general question remained to be
answered: namely, to what extent such general principles could satisfy the
problems of State responsibility in various fields of contemporary international
law (including the use of nuclear energy, economic relations between States, the
global envirormmnt, human rights and the rules of warfare). The future development
of the law on State responsibility probably would lead to the establishment of
specific rules in specific fields of international law, and the general principles
stated in the draft would serve as residual rules.

98. Draft article 8 (footnote 247) was generally acceptable to his delegation, for
it correctly reflected the existing law. In respect of paragraph 1, his delegation
preferred alternative (a), which was simple and clear in legal terms. It would
also prefer to see the reference to *'any moral damage sustained by the injured
State's nationalsW  transferred from article 8, paragraph 2, dealing with pecuniary
compensation, to article 10, dealing with "satisfaction". The paragraph should
have included a provision on the material damage sustained by the injured State's
nationals.

99. It was true that besides damnun emeroen9 compensation under article 8 shoald
also include lucrum cessane Paragraph 4 of &e article stated that only the
existence of an "uninterrupied causal link" between the internationally wrongful
act and the damage justified pecuniary compensation. However, there were
situations ia which States should be held responsible for damages although there
had been aa interruption between the beginning of the harmful activity and the
wrongful act. Like draft article 7, regarding restitution in kind, draft article 2
should contain limitations, particularly if damage had not been caused by wilful
intent.

100. In the opinion of his delegation, there was ao aeed for a separate draft
article 9 (footrwte 262). The problem of interest should be considered within the
general framework of luCrumBr dealt with in article 8, paragraph 3.

101. In general, his delegation had no problems with draft article 10
(footnote 263), but felt that the notion of "legal injury" in pnragrsph 1 should bi?
studied more thoroughly. In respect of paragraph 2, it noted a discrepancy between
the title and the content of the draft article: "guarantees of non-repetition"
were mentioned in the title separately from satisfaction, while in the body of the

/ . . .



A/C,6/45/8R.30
English
Page 23

(Mr.)

paragraph they figured a8 one of the forma of satisfaction. He wae therefore
pleased that the Special Rapporteur was prepared to consider a separate article for
gusranteee  of non-repetition.

102. Turning to chapter VII of the report under consideration, on international
liability for injurioue consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by
international  law, he said, firstly, that in the title of the article the
expression “international liability” should be replaced by “State liability”, eince
draft article 9 (footnote 307) provided that “the State of origin [should] make
reparation for appreciable harm aaused by an activity carried out in its territory
or in other places under its jurisdiction”. Whatever the eventual decieion  of the
Commission concerning the liability of the operator, a t  l eas t  re s idua l  l i ab i l i ty
should remain with the state of origin. The close link between that topic and the
question of State responsibility had been pOiAted out by the Commission during its
discussion of liability for harm to areas  beyond national jurisdiction.

103. As other delegations had pointed out, the inclusion of a list of dangerous
substances in article 2 would hardly help to clarify the scope of the draft
ar t ic le s , since the list could not be exhaustive. Such a list could, however, be
annexed in the form of guidelines. The name applied to the long list of factors,
now appearing in draft artiole 17 (footnote 312),  to be taken into account to
achieve an equitable balance of interests among the States concerned.

104. In addition to the changes already made in the definition of “transboundary
harm” in draft  art icle 2 (g) (footnote 305), his  delegation believed that  the scope
of the notion should be broadened to include not only territories under the
jurisdiction or control of another State, but aleo areas beyond national
jurisdict ion,  euch ae the high seaa the sea-bed, Antarctica and outer space.
Naturally, much  a change in the definition of “transboundary harm” would also
require a consequential change in other parts of the draft. Although hia
delegation rocogniaed that it would not be easy to adapt the present draft articles
by including the so-called “global aomnona”, i t  did not  thin& that  their  protection
should be restricted to State responsibility for lawful acts.

105. Mr. YEPEI  (Veneauela)  , recalling the second report of the Special Rapporteur
on the queetiod of State responsibility, pointed out, with respect to the
distinction drawn between “material” and “moral” damage, that damage to a State or
individuals resulting from an internationally wrongful act could be of both types.
Generally speaking, material damage was easy to define, ae were its coneequences.
“Moral” damage, however, did not entail a patrimonial loss, and was analyeed in
term8 of suffering or the moral injury to the victim whose rights were affected as
well as to his honour, prestige or dignity, which were intangible notions that must
be defined to some extent, even if it was difficult to measure them in monetary
terms and compensate them by mean8 of pecuniary reparation or satisfaction. His
delegation favoured maintaining the notion of moral damage in domestic law and in
international  practice.

106. The objective of the principle of “reparation by equivalent”, generally
accepted in the doctrine, was to restore for the injured party the situation which

/ . . .



A/C.6/45/SR.30
English
Page 24

(Mt.1

would have existed Sf the harmful act had not occurred. It therefore implied that
the reparation should be identical or equal to the damage,  namely, neither leas
than or more than suah damage. Although in international practice the criterion
was not applied in all casea, consideration  of the subject required taking all
posaibilitiea  into consideration and seeking solutions that were generally
acaegtablo  both in case8 where there was a contractual responsibility and in cases
where PAhere  was no contractual responsibiliiy. Furthermore, the draft articles
should not have the effect of restricting the autonomy of the parties. It might
thetofore be useful to insert a provision which erpresaly etated that specific
typos of compensation  represented acknowledgement of responsibility for, and
reparation of, the damage.

107. With regard to draft article 8 , entitled “Reparation by equivalent@*
(footnote 2471, he oaid that hie delegation preferred the text proposed for
paragraph 1 in alternative (a) which, although identical to alternative (b) aa far
aa the subatence  waa concerned, was better phraeed from the standpoint of form,
although it could still be improved. Paragraph 1 should contain the following
interdepe  Adent  elements t the right of the injured State to claim from the State
which had committed the wrongful act pecuniary compensation, the obligation of the
latter State to make restitution for damage by paying compensation, and the fact
that the purpose of pecuniary compensation  was to make good any damage not covered
by restitution  in kind. If all those elements were combined in a suitable manner,
the paragraph would be acceptable.

108. With rugard to the inclusion in the draft of a specific provision concerning
interest (art. 9, footnote 262),  he 8aid that his delegation felt sa that
s\;ch a provision would berve no useful purpose and could give rioe to controversy.
Indeed, ltate practice with regard to interest ratee, tiea a am0 compound interest
and term@ differed from one country to another, and might be irreconcilable.  Jt
would be more logical,
compensation,

in order to take interest into account in calculating
to establish in the draft articles the obligation to pay interest 80

aa to ensure  full reparations for the damage, and draw up a general provision
whereby the details would be left up to the courts. Such a provieion  could be
included in article 8 or elsewhere.

109. Draft ar.\cle 10, concerning satisfaction and guarantees of non-repetition
(footnote 263), was acceptable, although it could be improved in the light at’ the
views expressed during the debate in the International Law Commission and the Sixth
Committee. In paragraph 1, tire reference to *‘la~tl  injury” should be deleted,
since that concept was implicit in any wrongful act. It would be sufficient,
therefore, to rpeak of “moral injury” resulting from any injury to the State’s
dignity, honour or prestige.

110. As far as the forma of satisfaction were concerned, it would be better to draw
up a general provision without going so far as to establish the form such
eatisfactiod  uhor:ld taker perhaps one might stress tile idea of **guaranteaa of
non-repetition of the wrongful act”, in reference to the wrongful act which gave
rise to the injury, whether it was of a pecuniary nature or not.

I’. . .



AK.61451SR.30
English
Page 25

111. With regard to the question of the impact of fault on the forms and degree8 Of
reparation, he aaid that hia delegation was inclined to hold the view, widely
accepted in practice, that fault played a eignificant  role in determining the
consequences of a wrongful act, which muat be left to the determination of
appropriate decision-makers such aa international arbitral tribunals and courta.

112. Turning to the question of international liability for injurious conseq~~eneee
arising out of acts not prohibited by international law, he said that he agreed
with the Special Rapporteur that activities involving risk and activities with
harmful effects had more features in aonunon  than distinguishing features, and that
it should therefore be possible to examine their ooneequenaea  in a similar manner
under a single regime. he also agreed with the Speoial  Rapporteur’e  idea of
proposing the establishment of a single regime for both types of activities in
which there was a need for notification, information and consultation between the
States concerned. That did not mean, however, that the definition of activities
with harmful effects might not include those activities which caused damage, when
the risk of damage had not been foreFBen.

113. With regtrrd  to the scope of the draft, he uaid that his delegation agreed with
the Special Rapportout that it might be advisable to follow the approach taken by
the Committee of Experts for the European Committee on tegal Co-operation of the
Council of Europe, i.e., to define int& insically dangerourr  activi  tier in relation
to the concept of dangerous aubltancea, a list of which had been annexed to the
rules, and what was done with such substances, namely, handling, storage,
production, unloading and similar operations. The list could be a8 long as
possible without being exhaustive. As envisaged in the draft articles, dangerous
substances could be defined as those which created a significent risk of harm to
persons or property or the environment. Such a system would have the advantage, on
the one hand, of providing the necessary flexibility to avoid unduly restricting
the scope of the draft and , on the other hand, of allowing for considerable
precision.

114. In tho view of hie delegation, articles 1 and 2 of the draft were acceptable
a8 they stood, but the wrJrQing  of article 2 (a), which referred to “activities
involving risk”, should be re-examined in order to include other activities in the
definitiont in subparagraph (f), the concept of “activit ies with harmful  effects”
should be more tlearly defined. Subparagraph (h), wh!ch referred to “[Appreciable ]
[Significant ] harm’, should be developed end clarified, since it posed a number of
conceptual difficulties when it came to a comparison with negligible harm, which
was normally tolerated, and which had not been defined either. With regard to
articies 3, 4 and 5, his delegation agreed that the title of ar?iuie 3 should be
raf ined, and that article 4 should be brought into line with tk,e Vienna Convention
on the Law of Treaties. Article 5 coulc3  also be improved.

115. His delegation shared the view that flexible procedural rulea should be
envisaged to secure preventive measures. It therefore agreed with the wording of
articles 11 and 12, although it wishad to point jut that that should not preclude
further examination of the role of international organiaations  which might
participate in preventive activit ies.

/ .*.



A/C.6/45/88.30
English
Page 26

(Mr.)

116. Re doubted whether it wad either neceraary or advisable to bring in the
factor8 or criteria intended to give content to the concept of balance of interests
in artiole 13, beoause what was sought was not 00 much a set of legal norms a8 of
guideline8 which States might or might not wish to take into acaount in their
aoneultation8 or negotiatione~ Finally, hi8 delegation wa8 in favour of
maintaining article8 18, 19 and 20. Article 18 reconciled the fact that failure to
aomply with the obligation8 of prevention, particularly in the matter of procedure,
should not constitute grounds for a potentially affeoted State to institute
proceeding8 and the fact that failure to comply with those obligations should
entail certain aonsequence8, in particular, that of preventing the Stste of origin
from invoking the provision8 of draft article 23 in its favour.

117. Referring to paragraph 531 of the Commissionbe report, in whiah it requested
the views of Governments, he aaid that hi8 delegation took the pouition that any
trtinsboundary harm gave rise to liability, regardlees  of any preventive measures
that might have been taken by the State of origin. Hence, the draft articles
should expressly state that any traneboundary harm entailed the obligation to pay
compensation, instead of merely establishing the obligation to negotiate such
compen8ation,

118. F'nally, on the question of determining which party was liable, i.e., the
question of establishing whether the State of origin or the operator should be held
liable, his delegation favoured the view that, without prejudice to the liability
o f  operators, ownera, carriers and othera,  the primary liability should fall on the
State of origin because, in the final analysi8, the State of origin exeraised
control over the activities carried out in it8 territory, and it was reeponaible
for ensuring that such activities did not came injury to others. Consequently,
article 21 should clearly eetablish the obligation to pay compensation, and the
idea that it must I-B full compensation, Another provision might also be included
to establish under what circwnstancee compensation might be reduced.


